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Seventh Day Adventist Church

Key details

Addresses At 57 Mclennan Street, Albion, Queensland 4010

Type of place Church

Period World War II 1939-1945

Style Art Deco

Lot plan L2_RP40421

Key dates Local Heritage Place Since — 1 December 2017
Date of Citation — November 2014

Construction Walls: Timber
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Criterion for listing (A) Historical; (G) Social

This modest church with its simple, Art Deco inspired facade, was constructed by the Seventh Day Adventist 
Church in June 1939 shortly before Australia entered World War II. It replaced an earlier timber church and 
schoolroom that had been moved to the site from Murgon in 1927. It is a rare example of an interwar Art Deco 
style church in Brisbane.

History 

The first Seventh Day Adventist missionaries from the United States arrived in Sydney in 1885. By 1888, new 
convert, William Wainman, had begun selling Adventist literature in Brisbane. The first documented meeting of 
Seventh Day Adventists in the Brisbane area was held in Sandgate on 17 November 1894 and in 1899, the first 
Adventist church was constructed at Buranda. (The Buranda church building is still on the site but is no longer an 
Adventist church).  The congregation on the north side of the Brisbane River met in homes or in rented buildings 
until a church was built at Cairns Terrace, Paddington in 1916. This timber church was moved to Hammond 
Street, Red Hill, in 1926 and is still in use as an Adventist Church.

In 1919, some 500 Queensland delegates camped in tents in Windsor Park at Albion for the church’s annual 
conference. A small group continued to meet in the Labour Hall in Stoneleigh Street and applied for church 
status in 1920 by which time there were 12 churches (congregations) in Queensland and 691 members. In 
addition to evangelising, mission work was a major focus of the Adventists who were active in 92 countries.

In 1927, the Australasia Conference Association (the administrative body which held property in trust for the 
Church) purchased 24 perches (607m2) of land in McLennan Street, Albion. A disused timber church from the 
Adventists in Murgon was moved to the McLennan Street site and dedicated on Sunday 13 February 1927. The 
church included a baptistry and a schoolroom at the rear. At the dedication ceremony, Mr J Robinson, one of the 
first elders of the church spoke of the origins of the church:

“… the Albion Church originated principally from a mission held in a printing workshop in [Fortitude] 
Valley and conducted by Bro. Rudge in 1919. After several changes, the work of the church 
developed to such an extent that it became desirous that they should erect a place of worship for 
themselves…”.

According to an article in the Queenslander on 5 March 1927, the Seventh Day Adventist movement had grown 
considerably in recent years and the opening of the new church at Albion “marked a new stage in the 
advancement of the sect”. 
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In 1939 the church was replaced by a new building that could seat more than 200 people. The new church was 
built by Mr C Retschlag of Retschlag and Son at a cost £1,200. Some of the cost was raised by members of the 
church. It was revealed at the official opening on 11 June that all Adventist churches and halls in Australia had 
been put at the government’s disposal due to the possibility of a national emergency from the outbreak of World 
War II. 

The Interwar period was a time of new architectural styles in Brisbane. Most churches built during this period, 
however, continued to be designed along traditional lines. It was often non-conformist churches that constructed 
places of worship displaying new architectural fashions such as Art Deco which was popular for ‘modern’ 
buildings such as cinemas, cafes and commercial premises. The Seventh Day Adventist Church at Albion, 
although modest, has an facade displaying Art Deco elements such as the use of horizontal and vertical straight 
lines, a stepped parapet skyline, and stylised, low relief ornamentation.

Three months after opening, it was announced in the Courier Mail on 28 Sept 1939 that the Adventist primary 
school in the school grounds would commence teaching secondary school students the following year. In 1953, 
the school outgrew the Albion site and was relocated to a new building in Zillmere near the Seventh Day 
Adventist Camp Ground. This building was destroyed in a fire in 1978. 

Council records reveal that the McLennan Street church was altered in 1954 and this probably included adding 
the enclosed front porch. In 2016 the church remains in the ownership of the Seventh Day Adventist Church and 
continues to serve the needs of its congregation.

Description 

The Albion Seventh Day Adventist Church fronts McLennan Street, a thoroughfare through the centre of the 
suburban residential portion of Albion, which Fire of Hope Baptist Church Manse and Hall also fronts a few 
blocks to the south.

The church is a one-storey timber-framed building that is low-set at the front and high-set at the rear due to a fall 
in the land. Attached to the rear of the church is a schoolroom, expressed in the external form by a step in the 
roof and walls. The understorey of the church has been enclosed and no fabric of the understorey is of cultural 
heritage significance. The church has a simple gable roof clad with corrugated metal sheets and its walls are 
clad with weatherboards up to sill height and sheets and cover strips above that. The sides of the church have 
casement windows with fanlights. The front of the church is noticeably different, comprising a symmetrical facade 
clad with stucco with a stepped parapet featuring horizontal bands and a central element of vertical lines above 
embossed lettering ‘ALBION SEVENTH DAY’. The remainder of the lettering is obscured by a later (probably 
1950s) enclosed front porch with central entrance and steps and an angled overhanging roof. This later porch is 
not of cultural heritage significance. 

The interior of the church has later linings and layout, none of which is of cultural heritage significance. The large 
open span of the interior is braced by original metal tie rods. 

The church leads through to the schoolroom behind, which has also been relined in part but retains portions of 
the original v-jointed timber board wall linings uncovered.
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Statement of significance 

Relevant assessment criteria

This is a place of local heritage significance and meets one or more of the local heritage criteria under the 
Heritage planning scheme policy of the Brisbane City Plan 2014. It is significant because:

Historical
CRITERION A

The place is important in demonstrating the evolution or pattern of the city's or local area’s history

as an example in Brisbane of an interwar church with an Art Deco style facade.

Social
CRITERION G

The place has a strong or special association with the life or work of a particular community or cultural group for 
social, cultural or spiritual reasons

as a church building that has served the local Seventh Day Adventist community from 1939 to the present.
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Note: This citation has been prepared on the basis of evidence available at the time including an external 
examination of the building. The statement of significance is a summary of the most culturally important aspects 
of the property based on the available evidence, and may be re-assessed if further information becomes 
available. The purpose of this citation is to provide an informed evaluation for heritage registration and 
information. This does not negate the necessity for a thorough conservation study by a qualified practitioner, 
before any action is taken which may affect its heritage significance.

Citation prepared by — Brisbane City Council (page revised September 2020)
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